FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/11/2024 3:53 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. _____ COA No. 57360-1-II Case #: 1031611

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NICHOLES J. DENHAM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Sue Wilson, Judge Cause No. 20-1-00502-34

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO REVIEW

Whether review is appropriate under RAP
 13.4(b)(4) for this Court to clarify the standard of review for
 GR 37 issues.

2. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 13(4)(b)(2) where the Court of Appeals failed to comprehensively review the totality of the circumstances in its review of a GR 37 objection, contrary to published decisions in <u>State v. Matamua</u>, <u>State v. Hale</u>, and <u>State v. Booth</u>.

3. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the Court of Appeals failed to comprehensively review the totality of the circumstances in its review of a GR 37 objection demonstrating that guidance is needed from this Court regarding the proper application of standards for reviewing GR 37.

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Nicholes J. Denham was convicted of shooting Charlene Van Auken and her four-year-old daughter Z.P. with a .40 caliber Smith & Wesson inside Van Auken's black Chevy HHR. RP 904, 1018, 1029-30, 1443-44, 1456, 1459, 1462-1463, 3121-3122, RP 3488-3491, CP 156-176. Van Auken "was seated in the front driver's side seat and wearing a seat belt when she was shot." RP 1456-1457. Van Auken died from a "contact" gunshot wound to the right forehead. RP 1018. Z.P. "was seated face forward in a child's car seat in the rear driver's side of the vehicle when she was shot." RP 1462-1463. Z.P. died from an intermediate range gunshot to the face, with wounds to her arms consistent with raising them defensively. RP 1029-1030. Forensic scientist Stephen Greenwood, who processed the vehicle, "concluded that the shooter was likely in the front passenger's side of the vehicle when firing the shots." 1386, 1390, 1463.

Van Auken and Z.P.'s bodies were then dragged into the blackberry bushes in the 5700 block of Puget Beach Road Northwest. RP 758, 796. Mary Gibbons and her husband were walking their dogs on March 10, 2020, when they located the bodies. RP 725, 730-731, 733, 736. Deputy Joseph Hiles responded and observed an adult female laying in a contorted fashion, somewhat on her side or her back. RP 754. She was wearing a shirt and only underwear and was obviously deceased with severe head trauma. RP 754. About a foot away from the adult's head a female child was lying face down fully clothed, with her buttocks area soiled in blood. RP 754-755. Lacey Fire Department confirmed that the two were deceased. Detective Brian Goheen of the Thurston County Sheriff's Office noted that the bodies appeared to have been dragged from a pull-out area on the roadway. RP 802, 806.

Denham had been in a previous dating relationship with Melanie Newcomb, who worked at the Cedar Inn Bar.

RP 1903,1982. Melanie testified that she had three firearms, a .45 caliber Springfield XD-S, a .40 caliber Smith & Wesson, and a .22 caliber revolver. RP 1911-1913. All three firearms were operable. RP 1914. During a New Year's Eve party, Newcomb heard somebody jumping over her fence. RP 1962-1963. In February of 2020, Newcomb noticed that her firearms were missing. RP 1966-1967. She reported them stolen on February 5, 2020 and provided serial numbers for the .45 and the .40 to law enforcement. RP 1958-1969, 1976.

Lacey Police Department officers responded to a weapons violation that occurred on the night of February 29, 2020, into March 1, 2020, at Cedar Inn, after a neighbor reported hearing two gunshots. RP 2097. Newcomb was scheduled to work that day but did not. RP 1982. The owner, Sunny Lee, found a bullet hole in one of the windows. RP 2099, 2321, 2328.

The Washington State Patrol (WSP) crime lab tested the bullets and shell casings and determined that the bullet found in the Van Auken's Chevy HHR and the bullet recovered from the Cedar Inn were "fired from the same firearm." RP 3120. Both bullets came from a .40 caliber Smith and Wesson. RP 3121-22. The shell casing found outside the Cedar Inn, the casing found in the HHR, and the 43 shell casings provided by Melanie Newcomb "were all fired from the same firearm." RP 3118-3119.

Denham was found guilty of two counts of aggravated first-degree murder while armed with a firearm, five counts of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, three counts of theft of a firearm, one count of burglary in the first degree, while armed with a firearm, and one count of unlawful discharge of a firearm. RP 3488-3491, CP 156-176. He was sentenced to life without parole for the two counts of aggravated murder. RP 3539, CP 245-255.

During jury selection, Individual questioning was done in increments. RP 55. During his individual questions of panel 2, defense counsel started his questioning by asking the panel about their initial reaction when they heard the trial court say that the charges included aggravated murder. RP 315. Juror 27 responded "I guess my initial thought that there is a lot of responsibility behind being a juror in this case," and later stated, "Well, we have the responsibility to decide somebody's fate." RP 319. Counsel asked, "Do you think a case like this impacts more than just Mr. Denham?" and Juror 27 responded, "Yes." RP 319. When counsel asked, "All right. It impacts a whole bunch of people, right?" Juror 27 responded "Right." RP 319. Defense counsel then stated, "in your mind, is it a big deal to everybody? Mr. Denham specifically? Maybe the State? Tell me kind of what your thought is about the impact and who it would impact on a case like this," to which Juror 27 responded, "I suppose my initial was the

accused, Mr. Denham." RP 320. Juror 27 then stated, "Because our decision ... I guess it affects multiple people, not just him. Yeah, it would affect the victims' family and

... But then also his future as well." RP 320.

At the time for peremptory challenges, the prosecutor indicated that the State would seek to exercise a peremptory challenge on Juror 27, stating,

The exercise of this challenge would be based on some specific responses to questions in which he indicated a concern that the decision here in this case would decide the fate of the defendant and expressed a lot of concern about the impact that that would have on him. And it was the State's interpretation of that that that could be a - - it could be an implicit bias. I'm not accusing the juror of being biased, but an implicit bias towards defense.

RP 650. Defense counsel objected under GR 37. The trial

court then asked for a response from the State as required

by GR 37. RP 651, GR 37. The prosecutor indicated that

he had already given the justification and added,

But that is the response of the State is that this peremptory is not being exercised based on

any type of indication about race but is very specific to this juror and specific to a specific answer given to a specific question the stakes (sic) concern about a possible underlying bias towards defense from that answer.

RP 651-652.

The trial court ruled,

So the Court makes a determination, as I referced, and considers circumstances including the number and types of questions posed to the prospective juror and whether the party exercising the peremptory challenge asked significantly more questions or different questions to the prospective juror and whether there were other similar answers. There's other factors that the Court considers.

Based upon the question referenced and the answers from number 27, the Court is finding that the exercise of the peremptory will be allowed, that an objective observer - - I don't believe an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge. So it's not denied.

RP 652.

Denham appealed his convictions assigning error

only to the allowance of a peremptory challenge of Juror

27. The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for a

new trial, finding that an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge of Juror 27. The Court of Appeals denied the State's Motion for Reconsideration on May 21, 2024. The State respectfully seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. <u>This Court should accept review to clarify</u> the standard of review for GR 37 decisions.

Appellate courts review the trial court's application of GR 37 de novo. <u>State v. Omar</u>, 12 Wn. App. 2d 747, 751, 460 P.3d 225 (2020), *review denied*, 196 Wn.2d 1016 (2020). However, the application of de novo review to GR 37 decisions departs from other, similar standards of review. See, <u>Uttecht v. Brown</u>, 551 U.S. 1, 9-10, 127 S. Ct. 2218, 167 L.Ed.2d 1014 (2007) (appellate courts owe deference to a trial court's determination of a juror's demeanor); <u>State v. Noltie</u>, 116 Wn.2d 831, 838, 809 P.2d

190 (1991) (denial of a challenge for cause is reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion, since the trial court is in the best position to observe the juror's demeanor and responses).

In <u>State v. Tesfasilasye</u>, 200 Wn.2d 345, 355-356, 518 P.3d 193 (2022), this Court was asked to discuss the standard of review for GR 37 and stated, "Here, there were no actual findings of fact and none of the trial court's determinations apparently depended on an assessment of credibility. However, we leave further refinement of the standard of review open for a case that squarely presents the question on a well-developed record," when it applied a de novo review.

The Court of Appeals applied a de novo standard of review and declined the State's request to give deference to the trial court's observations. <u>State v. Denham</u>, No. 57360-1-II, (Unpublished Opinion) at 5-6. The decision of the Court of Appeals illustrates why a reviewing Court

should give some deference to the findings of the trial court. The Court of Appeals noted, "The State did not ask any follow-up questions regarding their answer of who may be affected, and its limited interaction with juror 27 failed to reveal whether they truly stood out from the other jurors in terms of their response." Id. at 14. The prosecutor noted that Juror 27's response stood out and gave the prosecutor the impression of an implied bias against the State. RP 650. The trial court, which also observed the statements of Juror 27 in real time, did not disagree. RP 652. In discussing its impression of Juror 27's answer to the specific question noted, the trial court stated, "Based upon the question referenced and the answers from number 27, the Court is finding that the exercise of the peremptory will be allowed, that an objective observer - - I don't believe an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge." RP 652.

The mannerism, tone, and other non-verbal cues of the juror when speaking in the courtroom are not observed by a reviewer reading a cold transcript. The trial court is in the best position to observe the venire and understand the totality of the circumstances, in the courtroom, at the time of the challenge. In this case, the prosecutor's peremptory challenge was based on a specific answer to a question that defense counsel asked to numerous jurors. The trial court, as an objective observer in the courtroom, was in the best position to fully observe nonverbal ques that went with that response and differences between responses of other jurors.

Pure de novo review is not possible because the Court of Appeals was not in the courtroom and did not have the ability to see the venire or Juror Number 27, did not have the ability to hear and see the tone and demeanor of particular responses of the jurors or attorneys, and was not in position to view the totality of the circumstances which would be seen by an objective observer in the courtroom.

This Court should accept review to clarify that in conducting a de novo review of the legal application of GR 37, a reviewing court should give deference to the observations of the trial court. In this case, the trial court clearly found the prosecutor's statement, that Juror 27's answer to the specific question regarding their reaction to the charges was impactful and gave an impression of implied bias, credible. That observation should be given some deference by a reviewing court. The standard for review of GR 37 is an issue that trial court's require guidance on. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this is an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should clarify.

> 2. <u>This Court should accept review because</u> <u>the Court of Appeals' application of GR 37</u> <u>conflicts with several published cases in the</u> <u>Court of Appeals because the Court of</u> <u>Appeals failed to comprehensively consider</u>

the totality of the circumstances in its review of GR 37.

The Court of Appeals application of GR 37 in this case conflicts with the published opinions of the Court of Appeals in <u>State v. Booth</u>, 22 Wn.App.2d 565, 510 P.3d 1025 (2022); <u>State v. Matamua</u>, 28 Wn.App.2d 859, 539 P.3d 28 (2023); and <u>State v. Hale</u>, 28 Wn.App.2d 619, 537 P.3d 707 (2023). In each of those cases, the Court of Appeals applied GR 37 to denied peremptory challenges which the defense sought to exercise and found that the trial courts erred by denying the peremptory challenges.

In <u>Booth</u>, the defendant in a driving under the influence case attempted to exercise a peremptory challenge of a juror who was in a cognizable racial minority. <u>Booth</u>, 22 Wn.App.2d at 567-568. During questioning of the venire, the juror stated that he would be comfortable with a law that completely prohibited drinking and driving and indicated that a person should probably consent to a

field sobriety test and follow a law enforcement officer's instruction. <u>Id</u>. at 570. In response to a GR 37 objection, the defense attorney argued that those responses indicated to defense counsel that the juror harbored positions about drinking and driving that were inconsistent with being able to balance the issues. <u>Id</u>. at 575-576.

The Court of Appeals noted, "we review a GR 37 decision objectively and comprehensively, not superficially and narrowly," and found that the totality of the circumstances "would not lead an objective observer to conclude race could have been a factor in defense counsel's decision to exercise a peremptory challenge." Id. at 579-580. Importantly, the Court of Appeals looked at the addition totality of the circumstances in to the considerations of GR 37(g), finding that defense counsel made a strategic decision to not strike a different juror who gave a similar response. Id. at 578.

In this case, the Court of Appeals narrowly applied the factors in GR 37(g). The Court of Appeals indicated that Jurors 4 and 32 provided similar answers and were not subject to peremptory challenges. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 12. The Court of Appeals failed to recognize that statements made by Juror 4 were in response to a distinctly different line of questioning. Defense counsel was inquiring about the jurors' understanding of the burden of proof in a civil case versus the burden of proof in a criminal case. RP 152. Juror 4 responded, "I think the stakes are higher for what the outcome is." RP 153. Juror 4's responses, taken in totality, were an acknowledgment that the stakes are higher, "for both" sides in a criminal case. RP 153-154.

Juror 32 was asked about prior service on a jury. RP 322. Juror 32 then answered defense counsel's question about what went through their mind when the trial court read the charges and responded,

I have done it. I guess basically we're going to be looking at his side, we're going to be looking at their side, we're going to be taking notes, trying to get facts. And then the impacts, like she said, our decision will impact him. But it just doesn't impact him. It's going to impact everybody in the case.

RP 323. This response was not similar to Juror 27's response, and it specifically distinguished itself from Juror 27's response. Juror 27 spoke about the impact on Mr. Denham shortly before the question was posed to Juror 32. RP 319-321.¹ The decision of the Court of Appeals omits the fact that Juror 32 distinguished their response from Juror 27's. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 3. Juror 32's comments support the conclusion that other jurors, like the prosecutor, noticed that Juror 27 emphasized the impact on Mr. Denham in a noticeable and appreciable way. Rather than acknowledge that, the unpublished opinion of

¹ While the transcript indicates the prosecutor stated "he" during the discussion of Juror 27 and GR 37, that appears to have been in error as the record indicates that Juror 27 was female. CP 267-274, RP 650.

the Court of Appeals takes Juror 32's comment entirely out of context and states "Juror 32 also noted in his initial response that the jury's decision would impact Denham." <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 12.

Unlike the Court in Booth, the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case does not consider the totality of the circumstances, including reasons why the prosecutor did not exercise peremptory challenges against certain other Instead, the decision takes statements of other jurors. jurors out of context in an effort to demonstrate that race could have been a factor under GR 37(g)(iii). To the contrary, no juror provided a similar answer to the specific question that the prosecutor relied upon for its reason to exercise a peremptory challenge against Juror 27. GR 37(g)(iii) should weigh against a finding that an objective observer could have found that race or ethnicity played a part in the exercise of the peremptory challenge.

In <u>State v. Hale</u>, the Court of Appeals indicated "whether a juror would be subject to a for cause challenge – which actual bias would support – cannot be the test," for GR 37. <u>Hale</u>, 28 Wn.App.2d at 636-637. In that case, the Court of Appeals found that the trial court erred by not allowing the defense to exercise a peremptory challenge against a juror who expressed that they had experience with child protective serves, implying that their personal or professional experiences may impact them. Id. at 639.

In <u>State v. Matamua</u>, the Court of Appeals found error in the denial of a defense peremptory challenge based on concerns expressed by defense counsel regarding the juror's expectations of the evidence. <u>Matamua</u>, 28 Wn.App.2d at 874-875. The Court of Appeals noted, "A party could have reason for seeking to strike a juror that falls short of the grounds for removal for cause but nevertheless would not be viewed by an

objective observer as having been motivated by racial or ethnic bias." Id. at 875.

Here, the prosecutor's reason for exercising a peremptory challenge on Juror 27 was racially neutral. RP 650-652. Juror 27's initial reaction to the case was concern regarding the fate of Mr. Denham. RP 319. Generally, punishment is irrelevant to the jury's task. State v. Murphy, 86 Wn. App. 667, 670, 937 P.2d 1173 (1997), review denied, 134 Wn.2d 1002, 953 P.2d 95 (1998). The prosecutor's concern that Juror 27's response was perhaps overly focused on punishment and the fate of Mr. Denham was justified. As in Booth, where the juror's comments did not amount to actual bias, Juror 27's response legitimately caused concern that Juror 27 was exhibiting an implied bias toward the defense.

The facts of this case are not distinguishable from <u>Booth</u>, <u>Hale</u>, or <u>Matamua</u> in that no objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the exercise of

the peremptory challenge of Juror 27. Other than the prosecutor identifying Juror 27 as a person who may be of a cognizably recognizable minority, nothing in the record suggest that race or ethnicity could have been a factor in the exercise of the peremptory challenge. The Court of Appeals failed to objectively and comprehensively consider the actual statements of the jurors and the complete totality of the circumstances, consistent with the decisions in <u>Booth, Hale</u> and <u>Matamua</u>. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

3. <u>This Court should accept review because the</u> <u>Court of Appeals failed too inclusively</u> <u>consider the totality of the circumstances in</u> <u>this case, which clearly support the trial</u> <u>court's finding that no objective observer</u> <u>could find that race or ethnicity played a role</u> <u>in the peremptory challenge of Juror 27. The</u> <u>standards for what should be included in a</u> <u>GR 37 analysis are of substantial public</u> <u>interest and should be decided by this Court.</u>

While the Court of Appeals stated that it was considering the totality of the circumstances for GR 37, the

opinion focused only on two factors of GR 37. Unpublished Opinion, at 11. The prosecutor's basis for utilizing a peremptory challenge for Juror 27 was based on Juror 27's unique answer to defense counsel's question regarding their initial reaction to the charges. The same question was asked to numerous jurors and the record shows that Juror 27 was the only Juror whose initial reaction was concern for the impact that the charge had on the defendant. RP 319. Juror 27 was also the only Juror who referred to Denham by name in answering the question regarding their initial reaction to the charges. RP 319. It was only with additional questioning that Juror 27 acknowledged that others would be impacted by the case as well. Additional questioning about this concern from the prosecutor would not have been likely to cure the State's concerns. GR 37(g)(i). Juror 27's response was notably different than other jurors' responses to the same question.

The Court of Appeals' analysis of GR 37(g)(iii) was factually incorrect, as noted in the previous section. No other juror gave a similar answer to the specific question that Juror 27 answered. Even Juror 32's response illustrated that the Juror 27's response was memorable and stood out not only to the prosecutor but to other jurors. RP 323. Rather than considering the totality of the circumstances, the Court of Appeals engaged in an incomplete analysis.

Applying all of the factors of GR 37, it is clear that no objective observer could view the exercise of the peremptory challenge as influenced by race or ethnicity. GR 37(g) provides a non-exclusive list of factors for the trial court to consider when reviewing a GR 37 objection. As the trial court acknowledged, the first consideration involves the number of questions posed to the prospective juror and types of questions asked about it. GR 37(g)(i). The record in this case demonstrates that defense counsel

asked the same question of numerous jurors. Juror 27 was not singled out by the prosecution and nothing about the questioning of Juror 27 would give any indication that race, or ethnicity was a factor in the use of a peremptory challenge.

The prosecution did not ask significantly more questions of Juror 27 than other members of the venire and did not ask different questions of Juror 27 than the rest of the venire. GR 37(g)(ii). As noted, Juror 27's response to the question was unique compared to other jurors. Juror 1 answered the same question by saying that the charge took them back to their childhood when they lost their dad at age 6. RP 200. The prosecutor also exercised a peremptory challenge on Juror 1. CP 267.

Juror 43 answered the question expressing concern about the number of charges and indicated that they may be distracted by emotions in the courtroom. RP 330-331. The prosecutor also utilized a peremptory challenge on

Juror 43. CP 269. Juror 44 questioned whether they could give 100 percent of their time to the case. RP 334. In response to a different question Juror 44 arguably indicated that the resources were biased against the defense stating, "the defense doesn't have the same resources that the prosecution has." RP 370. The prosecutor also utilized a peremptory challenge on Juror 44. CP 269.

The prosecutor also struck Juror 61, but Jury 61 expressed that their reaction was emotionally overwhelming. RP 538. Juror 72 also expressed that they had "anxiety" and indicated concern about how hearing the evidence would affect them. RP 546-547. The prosecutor also exercised a peremptory challenge on Juror 72. CP 272. The prosecutor's use of peremptory challenges on other jurors supported the trial court's conclusion that an objective observer could not view race or ethnicity as a

factor in the peremptory challenge of Juror 27. GR 37(g)(iii).

The reason given by the prosecutor was not disproportionately associated with race or ethnicity. GR 37(g)(iv). As the prosecutor noted, the reason was an indication of potential bias against the State from the specific answer to the question regarding the juror's initial reaction to the charges. Additionally, the use of peremptory challenges in this case does not support a conclusion that they were used disproportionately against a given race or ethnicity. GR 37(g)(v).

During trial, the parties and trial court identified Jurors 13, 14, 16, 20, 27, 48, 58, 61, and 74, 85, 86, 91, and 93, as jurors for whom a GR 37 objection might be offered, thirteen out of 98 total jurors summoned for the venire (approx. 13.3%). RP 215-216, 387, 447, 562, CP 267-274. Jurors 13, 20, 58, 86, 91, and 93 were removed for hardship or cause. CP 267-274. The defense

exercised peremptory challenges on Jurors 16 and 74. RP 653-654, CP 267-274. 39 jurors remained when the parties exercised peremptory challenges, seven of whom were identified as Jurors for whom a GR 37 objection might be appropriate (Approx. 17.9%)

The trial court selected 12 jurors and three alternates to sit through trial. Juror 14 served on the jury as Juror 4, Juror 48 served on the jury as Juror 9 and Jury 85 served as Alternate Juror 2. CP 267-274. Based on that, three out of fifteen of the jurors who served had been identified by the parties as jurors for which a GR 37 might be appropriate, or 20%. Statistically, there is no basis for an objective observer to conclude that the use of peremptory challenges was disproportionately against a particular race or ethnicity. GR 37(g)(v).

The prosecutor's reason for exercising a peremptory challenge was neither vague nor based on a ground prohibited by GR 37. As noted, the Court of Appeals did

not look at the totality of the circumstances in this case. Objectively, there is no basis to conclude that race or ethnicity could have been a factor in the State's use of a peremptory challenge. The lens with which Courts should review a GR 37 objection is an issue of substantial public interest and importance. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

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