FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/24/2024 4:10 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1031611 COA No. 57360-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

NICHOLES JOSEPH DENHAM,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THURSTON COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ARGUMENT IN ANSWER

1. Review is not warranted where the decision of the Court of Appeals did not depart from decisions of the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The Petitioner State of Washington argues, in its contentions in support of review under both subsection (b)(2) and also (b)(4) (see infra), that the Court of Appeals decision was error because it contravened the rule that GR 37 issues must be assessed under a "totality of the circumstances" test, and that the Court of Appeals should have applied a rule of deferential rather than <u>de novo</u> review of GR 37 rulings. State's PFR, at pp. 2, 13, 15.

But the State simply disagrees with the results of the Court of Appeals' careful, thorough assessment of the record of <u>voir dire</u>, which the Court conducted in strict accordance with the dictates of GR 37 and case law regarding its application. First, the Petitioner, <u>see</u> PFR, at p. 11, incorrectly argues that the present case is distinguishable from <u>State v. Tesfasilasye</u>, 200 Wn.2d 345, 355-56, 518 P.3d 193 (2022), and the reasons

1

the Supreme Court deemed <u>de novo</u> review to be the appropriate standard in like cases. The Court of Appeals decision cannot rightly be so described. The Court ruled, in support of following that case's reasons for employing <u>de novo</u> review:

> [J]ust as in <u>Tesfasilasye</u>, this case does not squarely present the question based on a well-developed record. Rather, the trial court's GR 37 ruling here did not involve disputed factual findings or credibility issues that require any deference. In fact, the trial court engaged in a truncated analysis. Therefore, we follow the applicable authorities and apply a <u>de novo</u> standard of review of the trial court's GR 37 decision.

Decision, at p. 6. Review is not warranted under RAP

13.4(b)(2). For similar reasons, review is not warranted under

the substantial public interest alternative of RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals properly applied our State's adoption of

GR 37 and its detailed set of criteria which are designed to

insure that the dictates of Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106

S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986) are meaningfully applied,

so that race is not seen as a factor in the selection of jurors in a criminal case in the Washington courts.

2. The State's dissatisfaction with the outcome of the case is not a basis upon which review should be granted, and the State's assertion that the Court of Appeals erroneously failed to apply a "totality of the circumstances" test does not render that dissatisfaction a basis for a grant of review.

The substance of the Court of Appeals decision is set forth in its opinion. The State argued as respondent on appeal that Juror 27 showed "an implicit bias towards [the] defense." BOR, at pp. 44-45. Mr. Denham, appellant, pointed out that Juror 27's statements plainly stated an awareness of the heavy weight of responsibility a juror assumes in a serious case which would have great impact on all involved, while also noting that Juror 27's statements commenced with recognition of the importance of the case to the victims' families, and noting that the case outcome would involve punishment of the accused if convicted. AOB, at pp. 31, 38, 40.

Below, after carefully setting out the pertinent portions of the full record of jury selection including the questioning of

3

Juror 27, Juror 4 and Juror 32, the Court of Appeals concluded that Juror 27 did not show the improper defendant-leaning bias which the trial deputy sought to ascribe to the juror. Decision, at pp. 10-14. Juror 27, as the Court of Appeals noted, recognized the seriousness of the responsibility to decide a case that would impact multiple people - "not just him [the defendant]" - and did so by referring to the victims' family, while also stating, "But then also" the case would affect the accused's "future as well." Decision, at p. 12. The Court of Appeals properly labeled Juror 27's understanding of the serious nature of the case as to the defendant, as a "correct statement regarding the law at issue[,] [which] cannot be a basis to infer bias." Decision, at p. 12. Similarly, Juror 27's awareness of the hardly surprising fact that a defendant's guilty verdicts for two murders could be followed by punishment was also consistent with the law at issue in a criminal case and not a basis for removal. Decision, at p. 13.

The State's argument, which it has advanced from the commencement of the appeal through the motion to reconsider and the present Petition, is that the Court of Appeals should have deferred to the trial court's decision to allow the removal of juror 27 because it must have been based on some unseen, un-remarked upon demeanor of Juror 27 or of other members of the venire. PFR, at p. 13.

The argument expressly underlying the State's arguments for review under both subsection (b)(2) and subsection (b)(4) is that the Court of Appeals failed to follow a "totality of the circumstances" test. PFR, at p. 13. But the totality of the circumstances the State argues the Court of Appeals failed to consider is based on demeanor:

The mannerism, tone, and other non-verbal cues of the juror when speaking in the courtroom are not observed by a reviewer reading a cold transcript. The trial court is in the best position to observe the venire and understand the totality of the circumstances, in the courtroom, at the time of the challenge. PFR, at p. 13. It must be made clear - the State asks the courts of this State to affirm peremptory removals based on the possibility that 'something' in the mannerisms, tone, and/or non-verbal cues of a juror, as to which 'something' no party nor the court at trial ever saw, identified, described, or remarked upon, must surely have been the reason the peremptory strike was permitted, and therefore, under a deferential review standard, appellate courts should affirm.

But GR 37 was explicitly adopted to prevent the removal of a juror based on such considerations, which are the very vehicle by which jurors have been struck in the past for reasons which actually stem from unconscious, but deeply embedded institutional and societal assumptions based on race. <u>State v.</u> <u>Omar</u>, 12 Wn. App.2d 747, 460 P.3d 225 (2020), <u>review</u> denied, 196 Wn.2d 1016 (2020).

In <u>Omar</u>, the defendant attempted to exercise a peremptory challenge and when asked for his reasons, vaguely responded that he "just didn't like some of the responses that [Juror 16] was giving to some of the questions." <u>Omar</u>, at 749. Division I of the Court of Appeals held that "Omar's articulated reasons ring nearly tantamount to a characterization of Juror 16's demeanor; and as noted above, GR 37(i) cautions that such a characterization has historically been associated with improper discrimination in jury selection." <u>Id.</u> at 753.

Notably, the State's responsive brief in the Court of Appeals relied explicitly on this same notion - that the strike should be affirmed because there surely must have been something about the juror, which never made it into the record, that might have been the reason for allowing the strike. Misemploying the rule, correctly applied in other, very different contexts, that a trial court is in the best position to assess a witness's credibility and demeanor, the State argued:

> The trial court is in the best position to observe the venire and understand the totality of the circumstances, in the courtroom, at the time of the challenge. In this case, the prosecutor's peremptory challenge was based on a specific answer to a question that defense counsel asked to numerous jurors. The trial court was in the best position to

fully observe nonverbal cues that went with that response and differences between responses of other jurors. In reviewing the trial court's ruling, this Court should follow the line of cases that Appellate Courts owe deference to a trial court's determinations regarding its observations of jurors. The trial court was in the best place to see what the totality of the circumstances that an objective observer would rely upon in deciding whether they could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the peremptory challenge. Pure de novo review is not possible because this Court was not in the courtroom and did not have the ability to see the venire or Juror Number 27, did not have the ability to hear and see the tone and demeanor of particular responses of the jurors or attorneys, and was not in position to view the totality of the circumstances which would be seen by an objective observer in the courtroom. Deference should be given to the trial courts [sic] observations in that regard.

BOR, at pp. 50-51. Yet the State posits no aspect of demeanor,

troubling or otherwise, that it asks the Court to assume was the

reason for the strike or its allowance.

Even if, solely arguendo, there had been concerns

regarding a juror based on demeanor - using the term broadly to

include anything other than what the juror stated or answers

given in response to questioning of the venire - which a party might wish to raise, that concern was required to be pointed out in order to give notice to the court and the other party that it may be a part of a later possible challenge.

(i) Reliance on Conduct. The following reasons for peremptory challenges also have historically been associated with improper discrimination in jury selection in Washington State: allegations that the prospective juror . . . exhibited a problematic attitude, body language, or demeanor; or provided unintelligent or confused answers. If any party intends to offer one of these reasons or a similar reason as the justification for a peremptory challenge, that party must provide reasonable notice to the court and the other parties so the behavior can be verified and addressed in a timely manner. A lack of corroboration by the judge or opposing counsel verifying the behavior shall invalidate the given reason for the peremptory challenge.

GR 37(i). General Rule 37 imposes this requirement based on

the recognition by the Supreme Court that the longstanding test

from <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u> has been wholly inadequate to effect

its purpose. The required question under GR 37, which the

Court of Appeals below properly relied upon, is whether an objective observer "could view" the strike as based even in part on unconscious racial stereotyping. The <u>de novo</u> standard is intimately related to GR 37's objective test. <u>State v. Omar</u>, 12 Wn. App.2d at 751. Review by the Supreme Court is not warranted.

B. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondent Nicholes Denham asks that this Court deny the State's Petition for Review.

This pleading contains 1,839 words formatted in font Times New Roman 14.